IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO.: SC02-261

N.S.H., Mother of A.M., A.M., A.H., Minor Children,	
Appellant,	
vs.	
DEPARTMENT OF CHILDREN AND FAMILY SERVICES,	
Appellee. /	
APPELLANT'S INITIAL BRIEF ON	THE MERITS

On review from a question certified by the Fifth District Court of Appeal, *en banc*, in Case No. 5D01-1595

RYAN THOMAS TRUSKOSKI, ESQ. RYAN THOMAS TRUSKOSKI, P.A. FLORIDA BAR NO: 0144886 P.O. BOX 568005 ORLANDO, FL. 32856-8005 (407) 841-7676

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT
ARGUMENT AN INDIGENT PARENT WHOSE PARENTAL RIGHTS HAVE BEEN TERMINATED IS ENTITLED TO AN ANDERS TYPE
REVIEW OF HER APPEAL WHEN COURT APPOINTED COUNSEL CANNOT DISCERN ANY MERITORIOUS CLAIM OF ERROR BECAUSE OF THE FUNDAMENTAL LIBERTY INTERESTS AT STAKE
A. Parents maintain a fundamental liberty interest in preserving the family unit
B. <i>Anders</i> applies to cases where fundamental rights are at stake and not merely criminal cases
C. Classifying termination of parental rights proceedings as "civil" is misleading because such actions are actually quasi-criminal in nature 7

D. Legislative intent and a parent's right to counsel in Florida
E. Due Process Clauses of the United States and Florida Constitutions 13
F. Current appellate procedure when appointed counsel cannot discern error. 16
G. Inadequacy of the current procedure
H. Equal Protection Clauses of the United States and Florida Constitutions 21
I. Perceived negatives of employing an <i>Anders</i> review
J. Children also maintain a fundamental liberty interest in preserving the family unit
K. Ninth Amendment of the United States Constitution
L. Privileges and Immunities Clauses of the United States Constitution 27
CONCLUSION
CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE
CERTIFICATE OF FONT COMPLIANCE

TABLE OF CITATIONS

CASES

Anders v. California, 386 U.S. 738, 87 S.Ct. 1396, 18 L.Ed.2d 493 (1967) 1
Brown v. State, 484 So.2d 1324 (Fla. 3d DCA 1986)
Burk v. Dept. of Health & Rehab. Servs., 476 So.2d 1275 (Fla. 1985) 5
City of Cleburne v. Cleburne Living Ctr., 473 U.S. 432 (1985)
Denise H. v. Arizona Dep't of Econ. Sec., 193 Ariz. 257 (Ct.App. 1998) 7
Dept. of Child. & Fam. v. V.V., 26 Fla.L.Weekly D2717 (Fla. 5th DCA 2001)7,12
<u>Duncan v. Moore</u> , 754 So.2d 708 (Fla. 2000)
G.L.S. v. Dept. of Children & Families, 724 So.2d 1181 (Fla. 1998) 23-24
<u>Griswold v. Connecticut</u> , 381 U.S. 479, 85 S.Ct. 1678 (1965)26
<u>Hlad v. State</u> , 585 So.2d 928 (Fla. 1991)
<u>In re Anders</u> , 581 So.2d 149 (Fla. 1991)
<u>In re Christopher B.</u> , 2000 WL 281739 (Ohio.App. 2000) 6
<u>In re Harrison</u> , 136 N.C.App. 831, 526 S.E.2d 502 (2000)
<u>In re J.A.</u> , 693 So.2d 723 (Fla. 5 th DCA 1997)1,16
<u>In re Jamie C.</u> , 1990 Conn.Super. LEXIS 1869 (Conn.Ct.App. 1990) 6
<u>In re Keller</u> , 138 Ill.App.3d 746, 486 N.E.2d 291 (1985)
In re Sade C., 13 Cal.4th 952, 55 Cal. Rptr. 771 (1996)

<u>In re V.E.</u> , 417 Pa.Super. 68, 611 A.2d 1267 (1992)
<u>In the Interest of D.C.</u> , 963 P.2d 761 (Utah App. 1998)6,10
<u>In the Interest of E.H.</u> , 609 So.2d 1289 (Fla. 1992) 5,18
<u>In the Interest of J.R.W.</u> , 149 Wis.2d 399, 439 N.W. 2d 644 (1989) 6-7
<u>In the Interest of K.S.M.</u> , 61 S.W.3d 632 (Tex.App. 2001) 6,11
<u>In the Interest of K.W.</u> , 779 So.2d 292 (Fla. 2d DCA 1998) 12,16
<u>In the Interest of M.R.</u> , 565 So.2d 371 (Fla. 1st DCA 1990)
<u>In the Interest of R.W.</u> , 495 So.2d 133 (Fla. 1986)
J.B. v. Dept. of Children & Families, 768 So.2d 1060 (Fla. 2000) 4,15
J.K. v. Lee County D. of Hum. Res., 668 So.2d 813 (Ala.Civ.App. 1995) 6
Jimenez v. Dept. of H. & R. Servs., 669 So.2d 340 (Fla. 3d DCA 1996)16
K.M. v. Dept. of Children & Families, 795 So.2d 1129 (Fla. 5th DCA 2001)24
<u>Lassiter v. Dept. of Social Services</u> , 452 U.S. 18, 101 S.Ct. 2153 (1981)8,19
Lewis v. Dept. of H. & Rehab. Servs., 670 So.2d 1191 (Fla. 5th DCA 1996) .4
<u>Lynch v. Baxley</u> , 386 F.Supp. 378 (M.D. Ala. 1974)
<u>M.L.B. v. S.L.J.</u> , 519 U.S. 102, 117 S.Ct. 555 (1996)9,14
M.W. v. Davis, 756 So.2d 90 (Fla. 2000)
Meyer v. Nebraska, 262 U.S. 390, 399, 401-02, 43 S.Ct. 625 (1923)
Moore v. City of East Cleveland, 431 U.S. 494, 97 S.Ct. 1932 (1977)

Morris v. Lucas County Child. Servs., 49 OhioApp.3d 86 (Ohio.App. 1989) 6
N.S.H. v. Dept. of Children & Families, 803 So.2d 877 (Fla. 5th DCA 2002)2,5
Ostrum v. Dept. of H. & R. Servs., 663 So.2d 1359 (Fla. 4th DCA 1995)1,16
P.B. v. State, 533 So.2d 883 (Fla. 3d DCA 1988)
<u>Padgett v. Dept. of Health & Rehab. Servs.</u> , 577 So.2d 565 (Fla. 1991) 4
Parham v. J.R., 442 U.S. 584, 602, 99 S.Ct. 2493, 61 L.Ed.2d 101 (1979) 14
Pierce v. Society of Sisters, 268 U.S. 510, 535, 45 S.Ct. 571 (1925) 14
Pineda v. State, 2002 WL 83772 (Fla. 4 th DCA, January 23, 2002) 23
Planned Parenthood of Central Mo. v. Danforth, 428 U.S. 52 (1976) 25
Pullen v. State, 802 So.2d 1113 (Fla. 2001)
Quilloin v. Walcott, 434 U.S. 246, 255, 98 S.Ct. 549, 54 L.Ed.2d 511 (1978) 14
Saenz v. Roe, 526 U.S. 489, 119 S.Ct. 1518 (1999)27
Santosky v. Kramer, 455 U.S. 745, 102 S.Ct. 1388, 71 L.Ed.2d 599 (1982).9,14
<u>Stanley v. Illinois</u> , 405 U.S. 645, 92 S.Ct. 1208 (1982) 5,21,26
<u>Traylor v. State</u> , 596 So.2d 957 (Fla. 1992)
Troxel v. Granville, 530 U.S. 57, 120 S.Ct. 2054, 147 L.Ed.2d 49 (2000) 13,14
<u>Von Eiff v. Azicri</u> , 720 So.2d 510 (Fla. 1998)
Washington v. Glucksberg, 521 U.S. 702, 720, 117 S.Ct. 2258 (1997)
<u>Y.H. v. F.L.H.</u> , 784 So.2d 565 (Fla. 1 st DCA 2001)

OTHER AUTHORITIES

Fla.R.App.P. 9.146(b)
Fla.R.App.P. 9.146(g)
Fla.R.Juv.P. 8.320(a)(2)11
Fla.R.Juv.P. 8.515(a)(2)11
Fla.Stat. § 39.001(1)
Fla. Stat. § 39.013(1)
Fla. Stat. § 39.013(9)(a)
Fla. Stat. § 39.0134
Fla. Stat. § 39.510
Fla. Stat. § 39.807(1)(a)11
Fla. Stat. § 39.810
Fla. Stat. § 39.815
Fla. Const., Art. I, § 2
Fla. Const., Art. I, § 9
U.S. Const., 6 th Amend
U.S. Const., 9 th Amend
U.S. Const., 14 th Amend

PREFACE

This is an appeal originating from the Circuit Court of the Ninth Judicial Circuit in and for Osceola County, Florida, the Honorable Daniel P. Dawson presiding. N.S.H. was the Defendant/Mother in the trial court and will be referred to as "Mother" in this brief. The Department of Children and Families was the plaintiff in the trial court and will be referred to as "Department" in this brief.

The Mother is appealing the trial court's decision to terminate her parental rights. The Fifth District Court of Appeal sitting *en banc* dismissed her appeal, but certified a question as one of great public importance.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The Mother is an indigent parent and was appointed counsel to represent her at both the trial and appellate levels. The Mother's appellate attorney, Shawn L. Hungate, Esq., filed a motion to withdraw with the Fifth District Court of Appeal pursuant to Ostrum v. Department of Health & Rehabilitative Services, 663 So.2d 1359 (Fla. 4th DCA 1995), asserting: "Counsel has reviewed the record on appeal and no errors appears in good faith to court appointed counsel."

On September 10, 2001 the Fifth District granted the motion to withdraw and gave the Mother 30 days to file a *pro se* brief. The Fifth District has adopted the Ostrum procedure. See In re J.A., 693 So.2d 723 (Fla. 5th DCA 1997). The Mother did not file a *pro se* brief.

On September 13, 2001 this court decided the case of <u>Pullen v. State</u>, 802 So.2d 1113 (Fla. 2001), which mandates that a district court must conduct an independent review of the record pursuant to *Anders*² in involuntary civil commitment proceedings when counsel cannot find a meritorious issue.

¹ The undersigned appellate attorney substituted in as counsel after the Fifth District rendered its decision. See Fifth District order dated January 23, 2002.

² Anders v. California, 386 U.S. 738, 87 S.Ct. 1396, 18 L.Ed.2d 493 (1967).

Thereafter, in the *en banc* decision at issue, N.S.H. v. Department of Children & Family Services, 803 So.2d 877 (Fla. 5th DCA 2002), the Fifth District certified the following question as one of great public importance:

IN TERMINATION OF PARENTAL RIGHTS CASES, IF AN ATTORNEY APPOINTED TO REPRESENT AN INDIGENT PARENT BELOW IN GOOD FAITH DETERMINES THERE IS NO VALID ISSUE ON APPEAL, SHOULD THAT ATTORNEY BE PERMITTED TO WITHDRAW PURSUANT TO *OSTRUM*, OR BE REQUIRED TO FILE AN *ANDERS* TYPE BRIEF.

The Fifth District stated that the statements relating to termination of parental rights cases in <u>Pullen</u> appeared to be dictum and that the court would continue to adhere to the <u>Ostrum</u> procedure, <u>N.S.H.</u> at 879, which does not require an *Anders* brief and does not require the court to conduct an independent review of the record to discern error. The court then dismissed the Mother's appeal.

The Fifth District admitted that it may have misinterpreted the scope of Pullen and certified the question at issue as a result. The court than modified the previously granted motion to withdraw to allow the Mother to be represented in this court only. The Mother's initial brief follows.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Termination of parental rights is the "death penalty" of juvenile law. State action to terminate parental rights is the most drastic legal intrusion into the sanctity of family life. The effect is to sever completely and irrevocably, a parent's right to ever regain custody and the right to visit or communicate with the child again.

This court's decision in <u>Pullen</u> and the U.S. Supreme Court's decision in <u>Troxel</u> necessitate that *Anders* be applied in termination cases because a parent's fundamental right of liberty is at stake. Failing to apply *Anders* would result in violations of a multitude of United States and Florida Constitutional provisions.

The *Anders* doctrine was explicitly created to protect indigent persons when fundamental rights are adversely affected.

The district court, when reviewing the record pursuant to *Anders*, would not only represent the parent, but would also represent the best interests of the child as well. The <u>Ostrum</u> court and its progeny have overlooked this fact.

Significantly, the State has a *parens patriae* interest in promoting the welfare of the child which means it also has an interest in an accurate resolution of the appeal. The current procedure when appointed counsel cannot discern error is woefully unconstitutional. *Anders* must be applied.

ARGUMENT: AN INDIGENT PARENT WHOSE PARENTAL RIGHTS HAVE

BEEN TERMINATED IS ENTITLED TO AN ANDERS TYPE
REVIEW OF HER APPEAL WHEN COURT APPOINTED
COUNSEL CANNOT DISCERN ANY MERITORIOUS CLAIM
OF ERROR BECAUSE OF THE FUNDAMENTAL LIBERTY
INTERESTS AT STAKE

A. Parents maintain a fundamental liberty interest in preserving the family unit

Termination of parental rights is the "death penalty" of juvenile law. State action to terminate parental rights is the most drastic legal intrusion into the sanctity of family life. The effect is to sever completely and irrevocably, a parent's right to ever regain custody and the right to visit or communicate with the child again.

"The significance of the rights at issue here cannot be overstated." <u>J.B. v.</u>

<u>Department of Children & Families</u>, 768 So.2d 1060, 1064 (Fla. 2000). The court in

<u>Lewis v. Department of Health and Rehabilitative Services</u>, 670 So.2d 1191 (Fla. 5th

DCA 1996), stated that:

We note further that the United States Supreme Court has held that a natural parent has a "fundamental liberty interest" that is protected under the federal constitutional provisions relating to due process of law. <u>Santosky v. Kramer</u>, 455 U.S. 745, 102 S.Ct. 1388, 71 L.Ed.2d 599 (1982).

Id. at 1194. See also Padgett v. Department of Health & Rehabilitative Services,
577 So.2d 565, 570 (Fla. 1991); In the Interest of R.W., 495 So.2d 133, 134 (Fla. 1986); N.S.H. v. Department of Children & Family Services, 803 So.2d 877, 879

(Fla. 5th DCA 2002) (holding the same).

"Florida has established a strong public policy in favor of protecting the relationship between natural parents and their children." In the Interest of E.H., 609 So.2d 1289, 1290 (Fla. 1992), citing Burk v. Department of Health and Rehabilitative Services, 476 So.2d 1275 (Fla. 1985). "We recognize that a constitutionally protected interest exists in preserving the family unit and in raising one's children. Moore v. City of East Cleveland, 431 U.S. 494, 97 S.Ct. 1932, 52 L.Ed.2d 531 (1977)." E.H. at 1290. See also Stanley v. Illinois, 405 U.S. 645, 651, 753, 92 S.Ct. 1208, 1212-13 (1982).

B. *Anders* applies to cases where fundamental rights are at stake and not merely criminal cases

This court's decision in <u>Pullen v. State</u>, 802 So.2d 1113 (Fla. 2001), clearly mandates how the certified question should be answered. This court held that a district court should conduct an *Anders* review in a civil proceeding where the nature of the individual interest is within the contemplation of the "liberty" or "property" language of the Fourteenth Amendment.

In <u>Pullen</u>, this court held that *Anders* applies to involuntary civil commitment hearings and in so holding drew analogies to termination of parental rights cases.

The nexus that this court made was that just because the case is labeled "civil" does not mean that the interests involved are no less important than in a criminal case. This court expressly rejected the notion that *Anders* only applies to criminal cases.

Pullen went on to state that the curtailment of the fundamental right of liberty is implicated in involuntary civil commitments, and therefore held that *Anders* applies. As previously discussed, the curtailment of the fundamental right of liberty is also implicated in termination of parental rights cases.

Accordingly, *Anders* must apply.

In fact, the majority of states apply *Anders* to termination of parental rights or juvenile dependency proceedings. See In the Interest of K.S.M., 61 S.W.3d 632 (Tex.App. 2001); In re Christopher B., No. L099-1065, 2000 WL 281739 (Ohio Ct. App. Mar. 17, 2000); In the Interest of D.C., 963 P.2d 761 (Utah App. 1998); J.K. v. Lee County Dep't of Human Res., 668 So.2d 813 (Ala.Civ.App. 1995) (juvenile dependency); In re V.E., 417 Pa.Super. 68, 83-84, 611 A.2d 1267 (1992); In re Jamie C., 1990 Conn.Super. LEXIS 1869 (Conn.Ct.App.1990) (not designated for publication); Morris v. Lucas County Children Srvs., Bd., 49 Ohio App.3d 86, 550 N.E.2d 980 (Ohio App. 1989); In the Interest of J.R.W., 149 Wis.2d 399, 439 N.W.2d 644 (1989); In re Keller, 138

Ill.App.3d 746, 486 N.E.2d 291 (1985).

This court in <u>Pullen</u> noted the minority views on the subject. "<u>See Denise H. v. Arizona Dep't of Econ. Sec.</u>, 193 Ariz. 257, 972 P.2d 241 (Ct.App.1998); <u>In re Sade C.</u>, 13 Cal.4th 952, 55 Cal.Rptr. 771, 920 P.2d 716 (1996); <u>In re Harrison</u>, 136 N.C.App. 831, 526 S.E.2d 502 (2000)." <u>Pullen</u> at 1118. This court should adopt the majority view.

C. Classifying termination of parental rights proceedings as "civil" is misleading because such actions are actually quasi-criminal in nature

This court already decided in <u>Pullen</u> that labeling a proceeding "civil" does not prevent the application of *Anders*. However, a review of the nature of termination of parental rights proceedings is necessary to fully illustrate the point.

Even though a termination of parental rights trial is classified "civil" it bears many of the indicia of a criminal trial. <u>Department of Children & Families, v. V.V.</u>, 26 Fla.L.Weekly D2717 (Fla. 5th DCA, November 16, 2001).²

Parents should be entitled to an Anders review of their appeal because

² <u>V.V.</u> held that a parent's invocation of Fifth Amendment rights cannot be taken as an admission of guilt or support an inference of guilt in a proceeding of dependency or termination of parental rights, even though such proceedings are classified as civil rather than criminal, where such proceedings bear many of the indicia of criminal trials.

termination proceedings are quasi-criminal and involve state action. This is due to the highly compulsory nature of the proceeding and the fundamental liberty interests involved. "[R]emoval of a child from the parents is a penalty as great, if not greater, than a criminal penalty." Lassiter v. Department of Social Services, 452 U.S. 18, 40 (1981) (Blackmun, J., dissenting) (quoting H.R. Rep. No. 95-1386, at 22 (1978).

A termination proceeding does not comfortably fall within the usually understood parameters of either a civil or criminal case. It seems best characterized as "quasi-prosecutorial." Although the purpose of the action is expressly not to punish the person creating the condition of dependency, the complete and irrevocable termination of the rights of a natural parent to his or her child is undeniably a significant and intrusive exercise of state power. Because of this consequence, which necessarily entails the deprivation of certain liberties, the U.S. Supreme Court has held that due process requires the state to support its allegations by at least clear and convincing evidence.

* * * * *

Another unique fact about the termination process in Florida is that indigent parents are held to have a constitutional right to counsel at state expense. This right derives not from the Sixth Amendment's right to counsel, but from the Fourteenth Amendment's guarantee of due process. Additionally, the compulsory nature of a termination is more like a criminal trial than a civil trial. For instance, if the parents fail to substantially comply with the case plan . . . [the Department] is mandated to file for termination of parental rights.

Hubert, Lila H. In the Child's Best Interests: The Role of the Guardian ad Litem in Termination of Parental Rights Proceedings, 49 U.Miami L.Rev. 531, 554 (1994).

(citations omitted).

The United States Supreme Court in <u>Santosky v. Kramer</u>, 455 U.S. 745, 762 (1982), stated that "the fact finding stage of a state-initiated permanent neglect proceeding bears many of the indicia of a criminal trial" because of the following factors:

The Commissioner of Social Services charges the parents with permanent neglect. They are served by summons. The fact finding hearing is conducted pursuant to formal rules of evidence. The State, the parents, and the child are all represented by counsel . . . The attorneys submit documentary evidence, and call witnesses who are subject to cross-examination . . . [T]he judge then determines whether the State has proved the statutory elements [by the burden of proof].

<u>Id</u>. (citations omitted).

The United States Supreme Court stated that it has "repeatedly noticed what sets parental status termination decrees apart from mine run civil actions, even from other domestic relations matters such as divorce, paternity, and child custody."

M.L.B. v. S.L.J., 519 U.S. 102, 127, 117 S.Ct. 555. (emphasis added). The high court went on to state that:

[T]ermination decrees work a unique kind of deprivation. In contrast to matters modifiable at the parties will or based on changed circumstances, termination adjudications involve the awesome authority of the State to destroy permanently all legal recognition of the parental relationship. Our . . . decisions recognizing that parental termination decrees are among the most severe forms of state action . . . have not served as precedent in other areas.

We are therefore satisfied that the label "civil" should not entice us to leave undisturbed the Mississippi courts' disposition of this case.

(citations and quotations omitted) (emphasis added).

The court in <u>In the Interest of D.C.</u>, 963 P.2d 761 (Utah App. 1998), held that strict compliance with *Anders* procedures in termination cases is required and stated:

The cases before us differ from *Anders* cases because appeals from orders terminating parental rights are civil rather than criminal. Despite this difference the cases before us and *Anders* cases have many similarities. Like indigent criminal appellants, indigent appellants challenging an order terminating their parental rights enjoy a right to counsel on appeal. *See*, *e.g.*, Utah Code Ann. § 78-3a-513(1)(a) (1996) (providing that "the parents, guardian, custodian, and the minor," have right to counsel at "every stage of the proceedings," and if indigent, shall be appointed counsel (emphasis added).³

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