IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

N.S.H., THE MOTHER ,	CASE NO: SC02-261
Appellant,	5 th DCA NO: 5D01-1595
	L.T. NO: JUD98-38 (9th Jud. Cir.)
V.	Osceola County
DEPARTMENT OF	
CHILDREN AND FAMILY	
SERVICES,	
Appellee,	
/	
ANSWER BR	LIEF ON THE MERITS
A	APPELLEE
	N I BEBEE
DEPARTMENT OF CHIL	DREN AND FAMILY SERVICES
On review from a certified ques	tion by the Fifth District Court of Appeal
In Coope	e No. 5D01-1595
m Case	5 INO. 3DOI-1393

CHARLES D. PETERS, ESQ. ATTORNEY FOR APPELLEE FBN: 239763 SUITE S1106, SOUTH TOWER

400 WEST ROBINSON ST.

ORLANDO, FL 32801 (407) 835-3462

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This was an appeal by the mother from an Order of Termination of Parental Rights entered in the Ninth Judicial Circuit Court, Osceola County, by the Honorable Daniel P. Dawson.

Appellant, N.S.H., is the mother. In this brief she will be referred to as "Appellant," the "Mother" or "N.S.H." Appellee is the Department of Children and Family Services and will be referred to as "Appellee" or the "Department."

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Appellee accepts the statement of the case and facts as stated in Appellant's initial brief.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENTS

Cases originating through Chapter 39 of the Florida Statutes are civil proceedings. Being civil in nature they are not entitled to *Anders* procedures.

Termination of parental rights proceedings have some of the "form" of criminal cases but not the "substance."

Federal due process does not require *Anders* procedures. After the due process analysis one finds that the parent(s) and the child have competing interests, the Department's interest is in promoting the welfare of the child and an interest in reducing the costs and burden of the proceedings, and that the risk of the present *Ostrum* procedure causes incorrect conclusions without *Anders* procedures all result in the determination that *Anders* procedures are not necessary in termination of parental rights cases.

Federal equal protection concerns do not require *Anders* procedures.

Criminal defendants and parents are not similarly situated by law in procedures or cases. Under the present application of *Anders* there is a denial of equal protection. Appellate courts raise arguable error only for indigent criminal defendant/appellants whose counsel moves to withdraw while the nonindigent criminal defendant appellant does not get that benefit. Furthermore, if the indigent criminal defendant/appellant's counsel raises some meritorious points on appeal, that defendant is not entitled to the appellate court's independent review to raise other arguable points.

Florida law presently protects the indigent parent's right to counsel through

seventeen (17) different statutes and three (3) rules of procedure. That is more than sufficient to protect the parent.

This Court's determination that *Anders* procedures should apply to involuntary commitments is distinguishable. Both criminal cases and involuntary commitment cases lack the competing interest of another party that is not the State. In termination of parental rights cases the child possesses an independent liberty interest that competes with the parents liberty interest that has been used to justify the imposition of *Anders* procedures. The child's competing liberty interest has been determined to be higher than the parent's liberty interest by the legislature and the people of the State of Florida.

Other states have rejected the use of *Anders* procedures in termination of parental rights cases. Some states have rejected the use of *Anders* procedures in criminal cases.

The certified question concerns only the requirements needed to guide the indigent parent's appellate attorney. The question does not ask that this Court make the determination of applying full *Anders* procedures to appeals of termination of parental rights. Appellee requests this Court disallow motions to withdraw by appellate counsel for the indigent parent rather than adopting the full *Anders* procedures as being fairer and more expeditious.

Determining whether *Anders* procedures should be applied to termination of parental rights cases logically involves the larger determination of whether *Anders* procedures should be applied to every indigent parent appeal of a loss of their liberty interest, the companionship, care, custody, and management of their child, temporary or permanent.

The size of records on appeal and the number of Chapter 39 case appeals argues against the imposition of *Anders* procedures.

CERTIFIED QUESTION

IN TERMINATION OF PARENTAL RIGHTS CASES,
IF AN ATTORNEY APPOINTED TO REPRESENT AN INDIGENT
PARENT BELOW IN GOOD FAITH DETERMINES THERE IS
NO VALID ISSUE ON APPEAL, SHOULD THAT ATTORNEY BE
PERMITTED TO WITHDRAW PURSUANT TO OSTRUM, OR BE
REQUIRED TO FILE AN ANDERS TYPE BRIEF

Anders v. California, 386 U.S. 738 (1967) (hereafter Anders) established certain procedures in a distinct class of criminal appeals.

If after a conscientious examination, appointed appellate counsel in an indigent criminal defendant's first appeal as of right, asks the appellate court for leave to withdraw on the ground that the appeal is wholly frivolous, without merit, or lacking any basis in law or fact, counsel must file an *Anders* brief referring to anything in the record that might arguably support the appeal.

The defendant must be provided a copy of the brief and given time to raise any points that he chooses. The appellate court must then conduct an *Anders* review which is a "full examination of all the proceedings...to decide whether the case is wholly frivolous." If the court does not find any point to be arguable on its merits, the appellate court my grant counsel's motion to withdraw and proceed to dismiss the appeal, or decide it on the merits on the basis that the case is wholly frivolous. (*Anders* at 744)

Ostrum v. Department of Health and Rehabilitative Services, 663 So.2d 1359 (Fla. 4th DCA 1995) (hereafter Ostrum) requires appointed appellate counsel for the indigent parent to examine the record for any good faith possibilities for arguing error. If no error appears after a good faith review, the attorney may file a motion seeking to withdraw as counsel for the indigent parent. The parent is then given a period of time in which to argue the case without an attorney.

If the parent fails to file a brief within the time period granted, the appellate court concludes that the party no longer wishes to prosecute the appeal and dismisses the appeal for failure to prosecute the appeal.

If the parent files a brief, the appellate court reviews the brief. If the brief fails to present a preliminary basis for reversal the appellate court summarily affirms pursuant to Rule 9.315, Fla. R. App. P. If the parent's brief presents a preliminary

basis for reversal, the case will then proceed as any ordinary appeal. (*Ostrum* at 1361).

CASES ORIGINATING UNDER CHAPTER 39 OF THE FLORIDA STATUTES ARE CIVIL PROCEEDINGS

Cases originating under Chapter 39 of the Florida Statutes are civil proceedings. *J.B. v. Department of Children and Family Services*, 780 So.2d 6 (Fla. 2001); *Ostrum v. Department of Health and Rehabilitative Services*, 663 So.2d 1359 (Fla. 4th DCA 1995). Being civil in nature they are not entitled to the *Anders* procedures. *C.f. Austin v. U.S.*, 513 U.S. 5 (1994); *Pennsylvania v. Finley*, 481 U.S. 551 (1987). Although termination of parental rights procedures have some of the characteristics of a criminal case procedures [*Santosky v. Kramer*, 455 U.S. 745 (1982)] this goes to form and not to substance. *Lassiter v. Department of Social Services*, 452 U.S. 18 (1981) (conc. opn. Burger, C.J.).

THERE IS NO FEDERAL CONSTITUTIONAL REQUIREMENT TO FOLLOW THE PROCEDURES OUTLINED IN *ANDERS* IN CHAPTER 39 PROCEEDINGS

The "safeguards" of *Anders* are not from an independent command derived from the United States Constitution itself. *Pennsylvania v. Finley*, 481 U.S. 551 (1987). These procedures do not extend to an appeal that is discretionary. *Austin*

v. U.S., 513 U.S. 5 (1994). They do not reach collateral post conviction proceedings. These are civil in nature and not criminal. Anders procedures are limited in their applicability to effective assistance of appointed appellate counsel in counsel's representation of an indigent criminal defendant in his first appeal as of right in a criminal action. Anders procedures are dependent on the existence of an indigent criminal defendant's right, under the Fourteenth Amendment's due process and equal protection clauses. Anders, supra; Pennsylvania v. Finley, supra. See also Evitts v. Lucy, 469 U.S. 387 (1985); McCoy v. Court of Appeals of Wisconsin, 486 U.S. 429 (1998). When the defendant has no underlying constitutional right to appointed counsel, he has no constitutional right to insist on the *Anders* procedure which were designed solely to protect that underlying constitutional right. Pennsylvania v. Finley, supra. These Anders procedures have not been applied to the type of proceedings involved in this case through any federal constitutional law analysis.

DUE PROCESS

The three-element due process analysis is set forth in *Matthews v. Eldridge*, 424 U.S.319, (1976): (1) the private interests at stake; (2) the state's interests involved; and (3) the risk that the absence of the (*Anders*) procedures would lead to an incorrect resolution of the appeal.

Here the private interests at stake are those of the parent and of the child. These interests have been found to be implicit in the "liberty" protected by the Fourteenth Amendment's due process clause. *See Santosky v. Kramer* 455 U.S. 745 (1982) (hereafter *Santosky*).

The indigent parent has a fundamental liberty interest in the companionship, care, custody, and management of his child. But, in an appeal from termination of the parent's parental rights, the underlying decision, adverse to the parent, is predicated on the detriment the parent caused or allowed his child to suffer. That underlying decision is presumptively accurate and just.

This is in light of the competing fact that the child has a "liberty" interest in a normal family home, a home that is stable. A child's development requires secure, long-term, continuous relationships with their caretakers. The child's sound development is adversely affected when uncertainty over the child's future is prolonged. As a practical matter, the interests of the child argue against the interests of a parent in a termination of parental rights case appeal.

Requiring *Anders* procedures can cause the child harm by prolonging the uncertainty affecting his life. After the Department has established parental unfitness by clear and convincing evidence, the appellate court may assume that the interests of the child and the interests of the parents do not coincide (*Santosky*).

The second element is the Department's interests involve preserving and promoting the welfare of the child (*Santosky*). This does involve an interest in an accurate and just resolution of the parent's appeal (*Santosky*). It also includes a fiscal and administrative interest in reducing the cost and burden of the proceedings (*Santosky*). Costs are not significant enough to overcome private interests as important as those of the parent and child. However, they are a consideration.

Time counts more. *Anders* proceedings must be concluded as soon as possible as a period of time that may not seem long to an adult may be a lifetime to a young child. *See* Section 39.815(1), Florida Statutes (2001) (requiring the district court of appeal to give priority to an appeal from an order terminating parental rights and render a decision as expeditiously as possible). *See also* Rule 9.146, Fla. R. App P. [The court shall give priority to...(dependency and termination of parental rights)...appeals under this rule]. Childhood does not wait for the parent to become adequate.

These interests mentioned in this second element are in opposition to the use of *Anders* procedures. After termination of a parent's parental rights and the motion to withdraw filed by appointed counsel for the parent, the presumption is that the competing liberty interest of the child's welfare lies with someone other than the parent and overcomes the parent's liberty interest in the child. The

additional time needed for *Anders* procedures does not benefit the child.

The final element concerns the risk that the absence of *Ander's* procedures will lead to an incorrect conclusion of the indigent parent's appeal. The chance of error is very low. The focus here is on appellate counsel. This risk ignores the high standards required of attorneys in Florida through the Rules of Professional Conduct. This risk presumes that attorneys handling appeals in Chapter 39 proceedings will not and do not raise meritorious issues on behalf of their clients. This risk has no established basis in fact when considering the previous success of *Anders* procedures reversing criminal convictions through appeals using *Anders* procedures.

Upon evaluating and balancing all three elements, the requirement of fundamental fairness in the Fourteenth Amendment's due process clause does not require *Ander's* procedures

EQUAL PROTECTION

Criminal defendants and parents are not similarly situated. By definition, criminal defendants face punishment. Parents do not. *Lassiter v. Department of Social Services*, 452 U.S. 18 (1981) (conc. opn. of Burger, C.J.) Criminal defendants are expressly given protections in the United States Constitution (*See* U.S. Const., Amends. V, VI, VIII, & XIV). Parents are not. The criminal

defendant enjoys the protection of having the state prove a case beyond a reasonable doubt. *In re Winship*, 397 U.S. 358 (1970). The parent has the clear and convincing evidence standard for sustaining termination of parental rights. (*Santosky*). All of this is to say that criminal defendants and parents are not similarly situated for invoking equal protection under the U. S. Constitution.

Additionally, if an appellate court reviews each record and raises arguable error only for an indigent appellant whose counsel moves to withdraw, then the nonindigent is disadvantaged as compared to the indigent; a denial of equal protection of the law. Also, an indigent defendant whose counsel raises only some meritorious points is not entitled to the appellate court's independent review to raise other arguable points that counsel may not have raised. *See and Compare: Smith v. Murray*, 477 U.S. 527 (1986); *Jones v. Barnes*, 463 U.S. 745 (1983).

FLORIDA LAW

Indigent parents in Florida are given the right to have appointed counsel represent them in all Chapter 39 proceedings. *See* sections 39.013(1), (9)(a), (b), (c) 3., (11); 39.402(3), (5)(b)2., (8)(c)2.; 39.601(9)(c); 39.701(7)(b); 39.802(4)(b); 39.805; 39.807(1)(a), (b), (c); Florida Statutes (2001); Rules 8.290(d); 8.320; 8.515, Fla. R. Juv. P. This includes appointed counsel on appeal. Section 39.510(1), 39.0134(2), Florida Statutes (2001).

There is no need for the establishment of right to the *Anders* procedures in light of the above extensive Florida law affording indigent parents the right to counsel. There is no command for the establishment of *Anders* procedures in termination of parental rights cases through the U.S. Constitution upon the State of Florida.

CIVIL INVOLUNTARY COMMITMENTS

In *Gloria Pullen v. State of Florida*, 802 So. 1113 (Fla. 2001), this Court held that *Anders* procedures apply to involuntary civil commitments. While the 5th District Court of Appeal noted that *Pullen* may have some bearing on applying *Anders* procedures to termination of parental rights cases in its opinion in this case, and while this Court referred to termination of parental rights cases as part its discussion of *Anders* application to civil cases, the distinction between criminal cases involving *Anders* procedures and involuntary civil commitments compared to termination of parental rights proceedings is significant.

As noted above, there is an additional party that has a competing due process liberty interest in the termination of parental rights and that is the child. That would make *Pullens* reasoning and *Anders* reasoning inapplicable to termination of parental rights cases. This competing interest of the child has an acknowledged higher standing of importance in Chapter 39 proceedings. Under

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